

December 1, 2017

**VIA ECF**

Michael E. Gans  
Clerk of Court  
United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit  
Thomas F. Eagleton Courthouse  
111 South 10th Street  
Room 24.329  
St. Louis, MO 63102

Re: *Saxton v. Federal Housing Finance Agency*, No. 17-1727  
Notice of Supplemental Authority under Fed. R. App. P. 28(j)

Dear Mr. Gans:

I write to notify the Court of two recent decisions directly relevant to this appeal. *See* FHFA Appellee Br. 14-46.

First, in *Robinson v. FHFA*, --- F.3d ----, 2017 WL 5623344 (6th Cir. Nov. 22, 2017) (**Exhibit A**), the Sixth Circuit affirmed dismissal of APA claims brought by an Enterprise shareholder similarly situated to Plaintiffs and represented by the same counsel, seeking to vacate the Third Amendment on grounds virtually identical to those asserted here. Judge Batchelder—joined by Judges Gibbons and Cook—held that “FHFA’s agreement to the Third Amendment is well within its statutory conservator authority,” and thus Section 4617(f) barred the plaintiff’s claims. *Id.* at \*6. The court found that FHFA did not violate any purported “mandate” to act as a “traditional conservator” because “Congress explicitly delegated to FHFA conservator authority that exceeds the customary meaning of the term [‘conservator’].” *Id.* at \*5. The court also rejected other shareholder arguments, including that the Conservator improperly sought to “wind

Michael E. Gans  
December 1, 2017  
Page 2

down” the Enterprises, and “ceded its independence to Treasury.” *Id.* at \*5-8. The court held that, in executing the Third Amendment, FHFA did not encroach on any exclusive receivership powers, and that shareholders lack prudential standing to allege violations of 12 U.S.C. § 4617(a)(7). *Id.* at \*7-8 and n.9.

Second, in *Jacobs v. FHFA*, No. 1:15cv708, 2017 WL 5664769 (D. Del. Nov. 27, 2017) (**Exhibit B**), Judge Sleet dismissed claims seeking to rescind the Third Amendment as allegedly violating state law, holding the amendment “falls squarely within the powers granted to [FHFA] under HERA, because renegotiating dividend agreements, managing debt obligations, and ensuring ongoing access to capital are some of the quintessential tasks of reorganizing, operating, and preserving a business.” *Id.* at \*4. The court also dismissed claims against Treasury, seeking the same relief, as an improperly attempted “end-run around Section 4617(f).” *Id.* at \*7.

*Robinson* and *Jacobs* reflect the growing judicial consensus that FHFA acted within its statutory authority as Conservator when it executed the Third Amendment, and thus claims seeking to undo that amendment are barred by Section 4617(f). This Court should follow suit and affirm.

Respectfully Submitted,

/s/ Howard N. Cayne  
Howard N. Cayne

*Counsel for Appellees Federal  
Housing Finance Agency and  
Melvin L. Watt*

## CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on Friday, December 1, 2017, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court by using the CM/ECF system. I certify that all participants in the case are registered CM/ECF users and that service will be accomplished by the CM/ECF system.

/s/ Howard N. Cayne  
Howard N. Cayne  
*Counsel for Appellees Federal  
Housing Finance Agency and  
Melvin L. Watt*

# **EXHIBIT A**

2017 WL 5623344

Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.  
United States Court of Appeals,  
Sixth Circuit.

Arnetia Joyce ROBINSON, Plaintiff-Appellant,  
v.  
FEDERAL HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY;  
Melvin L. Watt; [The Department Of  
The Treasury](#), Defendants-Appellees.

No. 16-6680

|  
Argued: July 27, 2017

|  
Decided and Filed: November 22, 2017

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Kentucky at Pikeville, No. 7:15-cv-00109—Karen K. Caldwell, Chief District Judge.

#### Attorneys and Law Firms

ARGUED: [David H. Thompson](#), Cooper & Kirk, PLLC, Washington, D.C., for Appellant. [Howard N. Cayne](#), Arnold & Porter Kaye Scholer LLP, Washington, D.C., for Appellees Federal Housing Finance Agency and Watt. [Mark B. Stern](#), United States Department of Justice, Washington, D.C., for Appellee Treasury Department. ON BRIEF: [David H. Thompson](#), [Charles J. Cooper](#), [Peter A. Patterson](#), [Brian W. Barnes](#), Cooper & Kirk, PLLC, Washington, D.C., [Robert B. Craig](#), Taft Stettinius & Hollister LLP, Covington, Kentucky, for Appellant. [Howard N. Cayne](#), [Asim Varma](#), [David B. Bergman](#), Arnold & Porter Kaye Scholer LLP, Washington, D.C., for Appellees Federal Housing Finance Agency and Watt. [Mark B. Stern](#), Abby C. Wright, [Gerard Sinzduk](#), United States Department of Justice, Washington, D.C., for Appellee Treasury Department.

Before: [BATCHELDER](#), [GIBBONS](#), and [COOK](#), Circuit Judges.

#### OPINION

[ALICE M. BATCHELDER](#), Circuit Judge.

\*1 Appellant Arnetia Joyce Robinson is a stockholder in the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”; collectively, the “Companies”). During the economic recession in 2007–2008, Congress enacted the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (“HERA”), which created an agency, Appellee Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”), and authorized FHFA to place the Companies in conservatorship. The Companies, through FHFA as their conservator, entered into agreements with Appellee Department of the Treasury (“Treasury”) that allowed the Companies to draw funds from Treasury in exchange for dividend payments and other financial benefits. The Third Amendment to those agreements modified the dividend payment structure and required the Companies to pay to Treasury, as a quarterly dividend, an amount just short of their net worth. The Third Amendment effectively transferred the Companies' capital to Treasury and prevented dividend payments to any junior stockholders, such as Robinson. Robinson brought suit against FHFA, its Director, and Treasury, alleging that the Third Amendment violated the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”). The district court found that Robinson's claims were barred by HERA's limitation on court action and that Robinson had failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. We AFFIRM.

#### I.

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are for-profit, stockholder-owned corporations organized and governed by the federal government, pursuant to the Federal National Mortgage Charter Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 1716–1723i, and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 1451–1459, respectively. Private stockholders own and trade the Companies' securities.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> We discuss here only the factual details that are pertinent to Robinson's claims. For more in-depth discussion of the historical background of this case, please see *Perry Capital LLC v. Mnuchin*, 864 F.3d 591 (D.C. Cir. 2017), petition for cert. docketed, No. 17-580 (Oct. 18, 2017).

In 2008, during the economic downturn, Congress enacted the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (“HERA”), Pub L. No. 110-289, 122 Stat. 2654 (codified at scattered sections of 12 U.S.C.), which created

the Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”) and authorized it to place the Companies in conservatorship or receivership under certain circumstances. HERA authorized FHFA as the Companies' conservator to “take such action as may be—(i) necessary to put the [Companies] in a sound and solvent condition; and (ii) appropriate to carry on the business of the [Companies] and preserve and conserve the assets and property of the [Companies].” 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(D). HERA also detailed a “[l]imitation on court action,” stating that, “[e]xcept as provided in this section or at the request of the Director, no court may take any action to restrain or affect the exercise of powers or functions of [FHFA] as a conservator or a receiver.” *Id.* § 4617(f). Moreover, HERA amended the Companies' charters to temporarily authorize Treasury to “purchase any obligations and other securities issued by the [Companies] ....” 12 U.S.C. §§ 1455(l)(1)(A), 1719(g)(1)(A). HERA also provided that the “Secretary of the Treasury may, at any time, exercise any rights received in connection with such purchases.” *Id.* §§ 1455(l)(2)(A), 1719(g)(2)(A). The authority to purchase the Companies' securities expired on December 31, 2009. *Id.* §§ 1455(l)(4), 1719(g)(4).

\*2 FHFA placed the Companies into conservatorship on September 6, 2008, and one day later Treasury entered into materially identical Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements (“PSPAs”) with each of the Companies. Under the original PSPAs, Treasury committed to provide up to \$100 billion in funding to each of the Companies. In exchange, Treasury received one million shares of government stock<sup>2</sup> in each of the Companies and warrants to purchase 79.9% of the common stock of each of the Companies at a nominal price. Treasury's government stock had an initial liquidation preference of \$1 billion for each company. Treasury's liquidation preference increased proportionately (dollar for dollar) to the amount that the Companies withdrew from Treasury pursuant to the PSPAs. In addition to the liquidation preference, the PSPAs provided that Treasury would receive a cumulative cash dividend equal to 10% of the value of the outstanding liquidation preference or an in-kind government-stock dividend.<sup>3</sup> The PSPAs prohibited the Companies from paying dividends on any securities junior to Treasury's government stock unless full cumulative dividends had been paid to Treasury for all current and past dividend periods.

2 Robinson refers to Treasury's “government stock” throughout her complaint and we adopt that convention to refer to the Variable Liquidation Preference Senior Preferred Stock granted to Treasury by the PSPAs.

3 The original PSPAs also provided that the Companies would pay to Treasury a quarterly periodic commitment fee to fully compensate Treasury for its ongoing financial commitment. Treasury had the option to waive the fee and repeatedly exercised that option. The periodic commitment fee was never requested under the PSPAs and never paid to Treasury.

On May 6, 2009, Treasury and the Companies, through FHFA, entered into the First Amendment to the PSPAs, which increased Treasury's total commitment to each of the Companies from \$100 billion to \$200 billion. On December 24, 2009, the parties executed the Second Amendment to the PSPAs, which again increased Treasury's funding commitment to the Companies. The Second Amendment established a formula that allowed Treasury's total commitment to each of the Companies to exceed (but not fall below) \$200 billion depending upon any financial deficiencies the Companies experienced in 2010–2012 and any surplus existing as of December 31, 2012.

By August 2012 (and as of December 2015, the date the amended complaint was filed), the Companies had drawn approximately \$187 billion from Treasury, and—including the initial \$1 billion liquidation preference from each of the Companies—Treasury held a total of \$189 billion in liquidation preference between the Companies. The Companies drew approximately \$26 billion of that combined amount from Treasury to pay the 10% cumulative dividends owed to Treasury under the PSPAs.

The focus of this litigation is a third amendment to the PSPAs. On August 17, 2012, Treasury and the Companies, through FHFA, agreed to the Third Amendment, which replaced the previous dividend formula with a requirement that the Companies pay to Treasury a quarterly dividend equal to their entire net worth minus a diminishing capital reserve amount. Robinson refers to this portion of the Third Amendment as the “Net Worth Sweep.”<sup>4</sup> The quarterly dividend payments do not reduce Treasury's outstanding liquidation preference or operate to otherwise redeem any of Treasury's government

stock. The practical effect of the Net Worth Sweep is that the majority of the Companies' accumulated capital is delivered to Treasury each quarter, Treasury's liquidation preference and stock holdings remain the same, and private stockholders are even less likely to receive a return on their investment while the Net Worth Sweep is in place. Under the dividend structure in the Third Amendment, the Companies paid Treasury approximately \$186 billion between the first quarter of 2013 and the final quarter of 2015. Had the Companies instead paid the 10% cash dividends detailed in the original PSPAs, the Companies would have paid Treasury approximately \$57 billion over that same time period.

4 The Third Amendment also eliminated the requirement that the Companies pay a periodic commitment fee to Treasury.

\*3 Robinson alleges that she has owned shares of the Companies' common stock since September 2008. Robinson argues that FHFA and Treasury agreed to the Third Amendment to “[e]xpropriate” private stockholders' investments and to “[e]nsure” that the Companies could not exit conservatorship. Specifically, she alleges that “[t]he Net Worth Sweep ... unlawfully usurped nearly \$130 billion from the Companies and sent it all into Treasury's coffers,” and “plainly prevents the Companies from operating in a sound and solvent manner by prohibiting them from rebuilding their capital.” Robinson also alleges that “FHFA agreed to the Net Worth Sweep only at the insistence and under the direction and supervision of Treasury,” abandoning its responsibility to act independently as the Companies' conservator.

## II.

In October 2015, Robinson filed suit in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Kentucky, seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against FHFA, Melvin Watt (the Director of FHFA), and Treasury. She argued that the Third Amendment violated the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 706, because the Third Amendment exceeded FHFA's and Treasury's statutory authority under HERA and Treasury's conduct was arbitrary and capricious. Robinson requested (1) a declaration that the Net Worth Sweep portion of the Third Amendment violated HERA and Treasury acted arbitrarily and capriciously;

(2) an injunction requiring Treasury to return all payments received through the Net Worth Sweep or to recharacterize such payments as a pay down of Treasury's liquidation preference and redemption of Treasury's stock; (3) vacatur of the Net Worth Sweep portion of the Third Amendment; (4) an injunction preventing FHFA and Treasury from enforcing the Net Worth Sweep; and (5) an injunction prohibiting FHFA from acting on the instructions of Treasury and from re-interpreting its conservator duties under HERA.

Treasury filed a motion to dismiss under [Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12\(b\)\(1\) and 12\(b\)\(6\)](#) for lack of jurisdiction and failure to state a claim, and FHFA and Watt filed a separate but similar motion to dismiss on the same grounds. The district court granted both motions to dismiss, finding that Robinson had failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. The district court determined that Robinson's claims were barred by HERA, which prohibits courts from granting equitable relief affecting FHFA's conduct as a conservator, and that Robinson had not alleged that FHFA or Treasury acted beyond the scope of the statutory authority granted by HERA. Robinson timely appealed the district court's judgment.

## III.

This court reviews de novo the dismissal of Robinson's APA claims. See *Latin Ams. for Soc. & Econ. Dev. v. Adm'r of Fed. Highway Admin.*, 756 F.3d 447, 462 (6th Cir. 2014).

### A.

HERA grants FHFA certain authority as the Companies' conservator, and it imposes certain limitations on review of FHFA's actions. As relevant here, it explicitly limits judicial review of claims that would hamper FHFA's conduct as a conservator: “[N]o court may take any action to restrain or affect the exercise of powers or functions of [FHFA] as a conservator or a receiver.” 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f). Our court has not previously construed this particular limitation, but this anti-injunction language is not new. Courts have interpreted nearly identical statutory language—found in the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 (“FIRREA”), 12 U.S.C. § 1821(j)—to bar claims for

declaratory, injunctive, and other equitable relief against an agency acting within its statutory authority as conservator. Courts have construed this language to “effect a sweeping ouster of courts' power to grant equitable remedies ....” *Freeman v. F.D.I.C.*, 56 F.3d 1394, 1399 (D.C. Cir. 1995); accord *Courtney v. Halleran*, 485 F.3d 942, 948 (7th Cir. 2007); *Hanson v. F.D.I.C.*, 113 F.3d 866, 871 (8th Cir. 1997). The anti-injunction language in § 1821(j), however, “shields only ‘the exercise of powers or functions’ Congress gave to the [agency]; the provision does not bar injunctive relief when the [agency] has acted beyond, or contrary to, its statutorily prescribed, constitutionally permitted, powers or functions.” *Sharpe v. F.D.I.C.*, 126 F.3d 1147, 1155 (9th Cir. 1997) (quoting *Nat'l Trust for Historic Pres. v. F.D.I.C.*, 995 F.2d 238, 240 (D.C. Cir.), vacated, 5 F.3d 567 (D.C. Cir. 1993), reinstated in relevant part, 21 F.3d 469 (D.C. Cir. 1994)); accord *Bank of Am. Nat'l. Ass'n v. Colonial Bank*, 604 F.3d 1239, 1243 (11th Cir. 2010); *Elmco Props., Inc. v. Second Nat'l Fed. Savings Ass'n*, 94 F.3d 914, 923 (4th Cir. 1996).

\*4 We conclude that this interpretation applies equally to HERA's anti-injunction language, found at 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f). See *Perry Capital LLC v. Mnuchin*, 864 F.3d 591, 605–06 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (quoting *Freeman*, 56 F.3d at 1399), petition for cert. docketed, No. 17-580 (Oct. 18, 2017); see also *Cty. of Sonoma v. Fed. Hous. Fin. Agency*, 710 F.3d 987, 992–93 (9th Cir. 2013). “The plain statutory text [of § 4617(f)] draws a sharp line in the sand against litigative interference—through judicial injunctions, declaratory judgments, or other equitable relief—with FHFA's statutorily permitted actions as conservator or receiver.” *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 606. Claims that seek to “restrain or affect the exercise” of FHFA's powers or functions as the Companies' conservator are therefore barred by HERA. Like the limitation in § 1821(j), however, HERA's limitation on court action does not apply if a litigant properly alleges that “FHFA act[ed] beyond the scope of its conservator power.”<sup>5</sup> *Cty. of Sonoma*, 710 F.3d at 992 (citing *Sharpe*, 126 F.3d at 1155). “[I]f the FHFA were to act beyond statutory or constitutional bounds in a manner that adversely impacted the rights of others, § 4617(f) would not bar judicial oversight or review of its actions.” *Cty. of Leon v. Fed. Hous. Fin. Agency*, 700 F.3d 1273, 1278 (11th Cir. 2012) (citation omitted); see *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 606.

5 The district court below and the United States District Court for the District of Columbia recognized that FHFA may also be subject to suit if Treasury alone exceeded its statutory authority. See *Perry Capital LLC v. Lew*, 70 F.Supp.3d 208, 223 (D.D.C. 2014) (“[I]f FHFA, as a conservator or receiver, signs a contract with another government entity that is acting beyond the scope of its HERA powers, then FHFA is functionally complicit in its counterparty's misconduct, and such unlawful actions may be imputed to FHFA.”), *aff'd in part, rev'd on other grounds*, *Perry Capital LLC v. Mnuchin*, 864 F.3d 591 (D.C. Cir. 2017). However, as discussed below, neither FHFA nor Treasury has exceeded its statutory authority, and we need not address whether § 4617(f) would bar Robinson's claims if only Treasury exceeded its statutory authority.

A litigant's claims against Treasury are likewise barred if he or she seeks equitable relief that would restrain or affect FHFA's power as conservator. Although § 4617(f) specifically addresses FHFA, that provision also forecloses claims against Treasury that seek imposition of equitable relief that would restrain or affect FHFA's powers or functions as conservator. *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 615–16; see also *Dittmer Props., L.P. v. F.D.I.C.*, 708 F.3d 1011, 1017 (8th Cir. 2013) (addressing anti-injunction language in FIRREA, 12 U.S.C. § 1821(j)); *Telematics Int'l, Inc. v. NEMLC Leasing Corp.*, 967 F.2d 703, 707 (1st Cir. 1992) (same). “[A]n action can ‘affect’ the exercise of powers by an agency without being aimed directly at [the agency].” *Hindes v. F.D.I.C.*, 137 F.3d 148, 160 (3d Cir. 1998).

Robinson's claims for equitable relief indisputably “restrain or affect the exercise” of FHFA's powers or functions as conservator. Robinson seeks declaratory and injunctive relief against FHFA that would effectively unravel the Third Amendment. She also alleges that by agreeing to the Third Amendment FHFA exceeded its statutory authority under HERA and, in turn, violated the APA. Therefore, to the extent that FHFA's agreeing to the Third Amendment is within the bounds of the statutory authority granted by HERA, Robinson's claims against FHFA are barred by HERA.<sup>6</sup>

6 FHFA and Treasury also argue that Robinson's claims are barred because HERA provides that FHFA “immediately succeed[s] to” Robinson's rights and powers as a stockholder in the Companies. 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(A). The parties dispute whether



this provision deprives Robinson of the right to bring direct and derivative claims regarding FHFA's conduct. The district court did not address this argument; because we find that Robinson's claims are barred by 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f), nor do we.

\*5 Robinson's claims against Treasury are also barred by HERA, to the extent that Treasury acted within the bounds of its statutory authority by agreeing to the Third Amendment, because those claims also seek to unravel the Third Amendment. Thus, providing equitable relief on Robinson's claims against Treasury would have the exact same consequence—effectively undoing the Third Amendment—as would providing equitable relief on Robinson's claims against FHFA. “Accordingly, Section 4617(f)'s prohibition on relief that ‘affect[s]’ FHFA applies here because the requested injunction's operation would have exactly the same force and effect as enjoining FHFA directly.” *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 615–16 (alteration in original) (citing *Dittmer Props.*, 708 F.3d at 1017); accord *Collins v. Fed. Hous. Fin. Agency*, 254 F.Supp.3d 841, 846 (S.D. Tex. 2017), appeal docketed, *Collins v. Mnuchin*, No. 17-20364 (5th Cir. May 30, 2017).

Robinson argues, nonetheless, that § 4617(f) is inapplicable because FHFA and Treasury exceeded the statutory authority granted them by HERA. We address Robinson's claims against FHFA and Treasury in turn.

## B.

Robinson asserts that FHFA, by agreeing to the Third Amendment, exceeded its statutory authority under HERA in four ways: (1) FHFA failed to comply with its general statutory mandate to act as conservator; (2) FHFA, via the Third Amendment, improperly sought to wind down the Companies during conservatorship; (3) FHFA's agreeing to the Third Amendment placed the Companies in unstable business conditions; and (4) FHFA failed to act independently when it agreed to the Third Amendment.<sup>7</sup> None of Robinson's arguments on this matter is persuasive.

<sup>7</sup> Robinson also argues that the Third Amendment resulted from improper or duplicitous motivations on the part of FHFA. “Generally, ‘[i]t is not [the Court's] place to substitute [its] judgment for FHFA's.’” *Perry Capital*, 70 F.Supp.3d at 226 (alterations in original) (quoting *Cty. of Sonoma v. Fed. Hous. Fin. Agency*,

710 F.3d 987, 993 (9th Cir. 2013)). As the district court explained, the § 4617(f) inquiry is limited to the contents of the Third Amendment, not why FHFA executed the Third Amendment or what FHFA has publicly stated about its role as the Companies' conservator or the Third Amendment. Therefore, we address only whether FHFA's actual conduct—that is, its agreeing to and conduct pursuant to the Third Amendment—exceeded its statutory authority.

## 1.

Robinson first asserts that FHFA violated HERA's mandate to act as conservator of the Companies. Robinson relies on the traditional definition of “conservator” to support this argument, but she fails to demonstrate that the traditional understanding of conservatorship is relevant when determining whether FHFA exceeded its statutory authority under HERA. When Congress uses a term, we presume that Congress intended that term to have its established meaning. However, that presumption is inapplicable when the statutory language employed by Congress contradicts or conflicts with the customary meaning of that term. See *McDermott Int'l, Inc. v. Wilander*, 498 U.S. 337, 342, 111 S.Ct. 807, 112 L.Ed.2d 866 (1991). Robinson's argument—that Congress intended to give the term “conservator” its customary meaning—fails here because Congress explicitly delegated to FHFA conservator authority that exceeds the customary meaning of the term.

First, FHFA is not a traditional conservator because Congress granted FHFA a broad array of discretionary authority. Rather than requiring FHFA to revive or rehabilitate the Companies (as a traditional conservator may be required to do), HERA expressly states that FHFA “*may*, as conservator, take such action *as may be*—(i) necessary to put the [Companies] in a sound and solvent condition; and (ii) appropriate to carry on the business of the [Companies] and preserve and conserve the assets and property of the [Companies].” 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(D) (emphasis added). This language is permissive and, as the district court explained, details *powers* that FHFA holds rather than *duties* that FHFA must perform. A divided panel of the D.C. Circuit agrees. “[T]ime and again, [HERA] outlines what FHFA as conservator ‘may’ do and what actions it ‘may’ take. The statute is thus framed in terms of expansive grants of permissive, discretionary authority for FHFA to exercise as the ‘Agency determines

is in the best interests of the regulated entity or the Agency.’ ” *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 607 (quoting 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(J)). “It should go without saying that ‘may means may.’ And ‘may’ is, of course, ‘permissive rather than obligatory.’ ” *Id.* (internal citations omitted).<sup>8</sup>

<sup>8</sup> Judge Janice Rogers Brown dissented from the D.C. Circuit panel's holding in *Perry Capital*, explaining in a footnote that the panel majority placed too great an emphasis on Congress's use of the word “may” in § 4617. Instead, she reasoned: “Congress's decision to use permissive language with respect to a conservator's duties is best understood as a simple concession to the practical reality that a conservator may not always succeed in rehabilitating its ward.” *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 638 n.1 (Brown, J., dissenting).

\*6 Second, FHFA is not a traditional conservator because the express powers granted to FHFA by HERA conflict with the customary meaning of the term “conservator.” Specifically, HERA provides that FHFA as conservator may “take any action authorized by this section, which [FHFA] determines is in the best interests of the [Companies] or [FHFA].” 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(J)(ii). HERA explicitly authorizes FHFA to consider its own interests when acting as the Companies' conservator. “That explicit statutory authority to take conservatorship actions in the conservator's own interest, which here includes the public and governmental interests, directly undermines [the plaintiffs] supposition that Congress intended FHFA to be nothing more than a common-law conservator.” *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 613 (quoting 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(J)(ii)); see also *Saxton v. Fed. Hous. Fin. Agency*, 245 F.Supp.3d 1063, 1076 (N.D. Iowa 2017), appeal docketed, No. 17-1727 (8th Cir. Apr. 4, 2017) (“Plaintiffs suggest that FHFA's actions as conservator must achieve certain goals—namely, rehabilitation and a return to normal operations. Plaintiffs' suggestion is contradicted by HERA's text.”); *Roberts v. Fed. Hous. Fin. Agency*, 243 F.Supp.3d 950, 962 (N.D. Ill. 2017), appeal docketed, No. 17-1880 (7th Cir. Apr. 27, 2017) (“And here Congress did not set up a typical conservatorship. This is best evidenced by the fact that FHFA is empowered, in its role as conservator, to act in *its own best interests*.” (citing 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(J)(ii))). The plain language of HERA, instead, “endows FHFA with extraordinarily broad flexibility to carry out its role as conservator,” far beyond that contemplated in a traditional conservatorship arrangement. *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 606. Therefore,

Robinson has failed to demonstrate that the customary definition of “conservator” is applicable here, or that FHFA must comply with the restrictions and duties of a traditional conservator when exercising its conservator powers under HERA.

2.

With respect to her second and third arguments, Robinson asserts that FHFA's agreement to the Third Amendment improperly placed the Companies in a financial position akin to that of liquidation. Under HERA, liquidation is a power unique to FHFA's role as a receiver. See 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(E) (describing FHFA's “[a]dditional powers as receiver”). Robinson reasons, therefore, that FHFA exceeded its statutory authority because it acted as a receiver at a time when it was supposed to act as a conservator. However, HERA does not bar FHFA's decision as conservator to restructure the Companies' dividend payments to Treasury. Nor does HERA oblige FHFA as conservator to preserve certain capital. Robinson may disagree about the necessity or financial wisdom of the Third Amendment, but “Congress could not have been clearer about leaving those hard operational calls to FHFA's managerial judgment.” *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 607. FHFA's agreement to the Third Amendment is well within its statutory conservator authority.

HERA grants FHFA far-reaching powers to direct the Companies' business and to act on the Companies' behalf as conservator. HERA authorizes FHFA to “be appointed conservator or receiver for the purpose of reorganizing, rehabilitating, or winding up the affairs of [the Companies].” 12 U.S.C. § 4617(a)(2) (emphasis added). Specifically, HERA provides FHFA with “[g]eneral powers” to “[o]perate” and “conduct all business” of the Companies, take such action as may be necessary to put the Companies in a “sound and solvent condition,” “carry on the business” of the Companies, “preserve and conserve the assets and property” of the Companies, “transfer or sell any asset or liability” of the Companies, and “pay all valid obligations.” *Id.* § 4617(b)(2). HERA also grants to FHFA “[i]ncidental powers” to

(i) exercise all powers and authorities specifically granted to conservators or receivers, respectively, under this section, and *such incidental powers as shall be necessary to carry out such powers*; and

(ii) take any action authorized by this section, *which the Agency determines is in the best interests of the [Companies] or [FHFA]*.

*Id.* § 4617(b)(2)(J) (emphasis added).

FHFA's execution of the Third Amendment to the PSPAs falls squarely within its statutory conservator authority to operate the Companies, carry on business, transfer or sell assets, and to do so in the best interests of the Companies or *itself*. HERA's language—that FHFA may take action that it determines is in the “best interests” of the Companies or FHFA, 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(J)(ii)—is significantly different from the comparable language used in FIRREA, which states that FDIC may take action that it determines is in the best interests of “the depository institution, *its depositors*, or [FDIC],” 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(2)(J)(ii) (emphasis added). FDIC is instructed to take into consideration the depositors to the failed bank in receivership or conservatorship. FHFA does not have a similar instruction to consider the best interests of the stockholders who invested in the Companies. *See Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 607–08. “Renegotiating dividend agreements, managing heavy debt and other financial obligations, and ensuring ongoing access to vital yet hard-to-come-by capital are quintessential conservatorship tasks designed to keep the Companies operational.” *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 607; *see also Collins*, 254 F.Supp.3d at 846 (“For the reasons set forth in *Perry Capital*, the arguments asserted by Plaintiffs here—the same arguments asserted by the plaintiffs in *Perry Capital*—fail to demonstrate that the FHFA's conduct was outside the scope of its broad statutory authority as conservator.”); *Saxton*, 245 F.Supp.3d at 1076 (“Plaintiffs' outcome-oriented interpretation of HERA therefore misses the mark. HERA speaks to FHFA's powers as conservator, and such powers plainly allow for the actions contemplated by the Third Amendment.”).

\*7 Robinson has failed to allege that FHFA's agreement to the Third Amendment exceeded its statutory conservator authority. HERA does not require FHFA to prioritize one of its obligations over others. Instead, FHFA may carry out its various duties in the ways it determines are in the best interests of the Companies or itself. “[T]he most natural reading of [HERA] is that it permits FHFA, but does not compel it in any judicially enforceable sense, to preserve and conserve

Fannie's and Freddie's assets and to return the Companies to private operation. ... [HERA] imposes no precise order in which FHFA must exercise its multi-faceted conservatorship powers.” *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 607. FHFA does not violate HERA when it prioritizes certain responsibilities—such as managing heavy debt and other financial obligations—over preserving and conserving the Companies' assets in the short term.

Even if HERA required FHFA to put the Companies in a “sound and solvent condition” and to “preserve and conserve” their assets—to the exclusion of other interests—Robinson has not alleged that FHFA exceeded its statutory authority. *See id.* at 609; *Roberts*, 243 F.Supp.3d at 962–63. Nothing in HERA's text requires FHFA to return the Companies to business as usual while in conservatorship. Indeed, the Companies likely should not return to business as usual. Robinson concedes that in conservatorship the Companies have returned to profitability, even if a large portion of that profit was sent to “Treasury's coffers.” And Treasury's continuing funding commitment guarantees that the Companies will remain solvent. *See Roberts*, 243 F.Supp.3d at 963. FHFA's agreeing to the Third Amendment is therefore well within its conservator powers under HERA and does not intrude on FHFA's separate and inapplicable authority as the Companies' receiver.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>9</sup> Judge Brown in her *Perry Capital* dissent determined that FHFA may not exercise its powers as both a conservator and receiver simultaneously. *See id.* at 642–43 (Brown, J., dissenting). She further found that FHFA had violated HERA because, under the guise of a conservator, FHFA “had functionally removed itself from the role of a HERA conservator,” *id.* at 645, and its agreement to the Third Amendment “placed the Companies in *de facto* liquidation,” *id.* at 646. We agree with Judge Brown that FHFA exceeds its statutory conservator authority if it attempts to exercise its conservator and exclusive receiver powers simultaneously. *See id.* at 642–43. However, we must agree with the *Perry Capital* majority that in agreeing to the Third Amendment, FHFA did not encroach on any of the exclusive powers granted to FHFA when it acts as a receiver.

In her fourth argument, Robinson asserts that FHFA improperly ceded its independence to Treasury by agreeing to the Third Amendment. Robinson argues that FHFA violated HERA—specifically § 4617(a)(7), which states that FHFA “shall not be subject to the direction or supervision of any other agency”—because it agreed to the Third Amendment under pressure from Treasury. The district court rejected this argument, determining that Robinson did not fall within the “zone of interests” protected by that provision and that she lacked prudential standing to pursue the claim.

Robinson has failed to allege that she is within the zone of interests protected by the relevant provision of HERA. The zone-of-interests test asks “whether the interest sought to be protected by the complainant is arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute or constitutional guarantee in question.” *Ass'n of Data Processing Serv. Orgs. v. Camp*, 397 U.S. 150, 153, 90 S.Ct. 827, 25 L.Ed.2d 184 (1970). “Whether a plaintiff’s interest is ‘arguably ... protected ... by the statute’ within the meaning of the zone-of-interests test is to be determined not by reference to the overall purpose of the Act in question ..., but by reference to the particular provision of law upon which the plaintiff relies.” *Bennett v. Spear*, 520 U.S. 154, 175–76, 117 S.Ct. 1154, 137 L.Ed.2d 281 (1997) (citation omitted). HERA gives FHFA authority over “critically undercapitalized regulated entities,” 12 U.S.C. § 4617, including specifically, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, see 12 U.S.C. § 4502 (20)(A) and (B). Section 4617(a) governs the appointment of FHFA as conservator or receiver of such entities, and subsection 4617(a)(7) in particular establishes FHFA’s independence “[w]hen acting as conservator or receiver.” Robinson relies on subsection 4617(a)(7) to assert that FHFA exceeded its statutory authority by yielding to Treasury’s demands and agreeing to the Third Amendment. But § 4617(a) mentions shareholders only twice, both times in the context of FHFA’s appointment as conservator or receiver, and subsection 4617(a)(7) mentions shareholders not at all. Rather, that subsection addresses only FHFA and explicitly protects FHFA’s independence when acting as conservator or receiver. It does not concern shareholders, much less protect Robinson’s interest as a shareholder in the Companies. See *Saxton*, 245 F.Supp.3d at 1077 (“In other words, § 4617(a)(7) specifically functions to remove obstacles to FHFA’s exercise of conservator powers—*i.e.* to preserve FHFA’s interests, not those of [the

Companies] shareholders. Appropriately viewed through this lens, the court concludes that Plaintiffs are not within the zone of interests created by § 4617(a)(7).”); cf. *Fed. Hous. Fin. Agency v. City of Chicago*, 962 F.Supp.2d 1044, 1059 (N.D. Ill. 2013) (explaining that HERA preempts municipalities from regulating FHFA via passage of local laws and ordinances). Robinson has thus failed to allege that she falls within the zone of interests protected by § 4617(a)(7), and the district court properly determined that she lacked prudential standing to bring her claim regarding FHFA’s independence.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>10</sup> FHFA also argues that, even if Robinson fell within the relevant zone of interests, she failed to plausibly allege that Treasury compelled FHFA to agree to the Third Amendment. The district court did not address this issue and, having determined that Robinson lacks prudential standing to bring such a claim, we need not address it either.

\*8 After considering all of Robinson’s arguments, we conclude that Robinson has failed to demonstrate that FHFA exceeded its statutory authority by agreeing to the Third Amendment. Her claims against FHFA, therefore, are barred by HERA’s limitation on court action, § 4617(f).

### C.

Robinson also asserts that HERA’s limitation on court action does not apply to her claims against Treasury because Treasury exceeded its statutory authority in two ways. Robinson argues, first, that Treasury exceeded its statutory authority under HERA by effectuating a “purchase” of new securities after the 2009 statutory deadline. Robinson asserts that, under the Third Amendment, the Companies effectively “sold Treasury a new obligation—to hand over their net worth each quarter—in exchange for canceling the Companies’ fixed-dividend obligations.” This argument is meritless.

The Third Amendment does not effectuate a new “purchase” of the Companies’ securities. Treasury obtained no new shares of the Companies’ stock as a result of the Third Amendment, and it did not commit any additional funds to the Companies. Cf. *Katz v. Gerardi*, 655 F.3d 1212, 1223 (10th Cir. 2011) (explaining exchange of stock units for cash or new stock was not a “purchase” under the 1933 Securities Act because

plaintiff “owned the same A–1 Units both before and after the merger was announced. Nothing can convert the sale ... into a purchase of shares he never acquired”); *Isquith v. Caremark Int'l, Inc.*, 136 F.3d 531, 534 (7th Cir. 1998) (explaining that the exchange of one stock for another during spinoff of a manufacturer's wholly owned subsidiary did not constitute a sale or purchase of securities because plaintiffs did not “buy or sell any securities”). Instead, the Third Amendment merely altered the compensation structure for the stock that Treasury already owned and for which Treasury was already receiving dividends. See *Roberts*, 243 F.Supp.3d at 963 (“[T]he Third Amendment was an exercise of rights received in connection with securities it had purchased before its purchase authority expired, not a new purchase.” (internal citations omitted)); *Perry Capital LLC v. Lew*, 70 F.Supp.3d 208, 224 (D.D.C. 2014) (“Without providing an additional funding commitment or receiving new securities from the [Companies] as consideration for its Third Amendment to the already existing PSPAs, Treasury cannot be said to have purchased new securities ....” (internal citation omitted)), *aff'd in part, rev'd on other grounds*, *Perry Capital LLC v. Mnuchin*, 864 F.3d 591 (D.C. Cir. 2017). The Third Amendment altered Treasury's compensation structure, but that restructuring does not constitute a “purchase” of new securities from the Companies.

Second, Robinson asserts that Treasury exceeded its statutory authority by agreeing to the Third Amendment because HERA does not authorize Treasury to amend the PSPAs. Even though HERA authorizes Treasury to “exercise any rights received in connection with ... any obligations or securities purchased” from the Companies, 12 U.S.C. §§ 1455(f)(2)(D), 1719(g)(2)(D), Robinson argues that those rights do not include the right to amend. Specifically, Robinson argues that a “right” is an “entitlement to do something” and, because the Companies must consent to amendment, Treasury does not have an entitlement to any amendment.

\*9 The plain language of the PSPAs disproves Robinson's assertion. The original PSPAs explicitly conferred on the Companies and Treasury the right to “waive [ ] or amend [ ] [the PSPAs] solely by writing executed by both of the parties ....” Presuming that Robinson's definition of the term “right” is accurate, the PSPAs expressly grant Treasury an entitlement to amend, albeit with the condition that such entitlement be

exercised in coordination with the Companies. Treasury and the Companies exercised that right when they agreed to the each of the three amendments to the PSPAs, and Robinson does not allege that the First Amendment or Second Amendment exceeded Treasury's authority under HERA. Robinson cites no case, and we have found none, that supports her contention that Treasury did not exercise its right to amend the PSPAs simply because it “could not unilaterally require” the Companies to agree to the amendment. Because the PSPAs gave Treasury the express right to amend, Treasury's agreement to the Third Amendment did not exceed its statutory authority under HERA.

Robinson has failed to demonstrate that Treasury exceeded its statutory authority by purchasing new securities from the Companies or by agreeing to the Third Amendment. Her claims against Treasury, therefore, are barred by HERA's limitation-on-court-action provision, § 4617(f).

#### IV.

The district court correctly determined that Robinson's APA claims against FHFA and Treasury are barred by HERA's limitation-on-court-action provision. Robinson's protean attempts to unravel the Third Amendment all “restrain or affect” FHFA's “exercise of powers or functions” as the Companies' conservator,” 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f), and she has failed to demonstrate that FHFA or Treasury exceeded the statutory authority granted to them by HERA. In the wake of the 2007–2008 economic recession, Congress granted to the Companies “unprecedented access” to guaranteed capital from Treasury. And, in exchange, Congress also granted FHFA unparalleled authority to manage the Companies' business. As unfair and ill-advised as Robinson understandably finds that allocation to be, “even the most formidable argument concerning the statute's purposes [cannot] overcome the clarity [of] the statute's text.” *Kloeckner v. Solis*, 568 U.S. 41, 55, n.4, 133 S.Ct. 596, 184 L.Ed.2d 433 (2012). The Constitution granted to Congress “[a]ll legislative Powers” enumerated in the Constitution, U.S. Const. art. 1, § 1, making Congress, and not appellate courts, “responsible for both making laws and mending them.” *King v. Burwell*, — U.S. —, 135 S.Ct. 2480, 2505, 192 L.Ed.2d 483 (2015) (Scalia, J., dissenting). Absent constitutional defect, which

Robinson has not alleged here, Congress is the proper governmental body to address poor legislative decisions. Appellate courts hold only “judicial power—the power to pronounce the law as Congress has enacted it.” *Id.* We must therefore AFFIRM the district court's judgment.

**All Citations**

--- F.3d ----, 2017 WL 5623344

---

End of Document

© 2017 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.

# **EXHIBIT B**

2017 WL 5664769

Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States District Court,  
D. Delaware.

DAVID JACOBS and GARY HINDES, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, and derivatively on behalf of the Federal National Mortgage Assoc. and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp., Plaintiffs,

v.

THE FEDERAL HOUSING FINANCE AGENCY, in its capacity as Conservator of the Federal National Mortgage Assoc. and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp., and THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, Defendants,

and

THE FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOC. and THE FEDERAL HOME LOAN MORTGAGE CORP., Nominal Defendants.

Civ. No. 15-708-GMS

|

November 27, 2017

**Attorneys and Law Firms**

Myron T. Steele, Esq., Michael A. Pittenger, Esq., Christopher N. Kelly, Esq., and Alan R. Silverstein, Esq. of Potter Anderson & Corroon LLP, Wilmington, DE. Counsel for Plaintiffs.

Robert J. Stearn, Jr., Esq. and Robert C. Maddox, Esq. of Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A., Wilmington, DE. Counsel for Defendants Federal Housing Finance Agency, Federal National Mortgage Assoc., and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp. Of Counsel: Howard N. Cayne, Esq., Asim Varma, Esq., and David B. Bergman, Esq. of Arnold & Porter Kaye Scholer LLP, Washington, DC; Jeffrey W. Kilduff, Esq. and Michael Walsh, Esq. of O'Melveny & Meyers LLP, Washington, DC; and Michael Joseph Ciatti, Esq. and Graciela Maria Rodriguez, Esq. of King & Spalding LLP, Washington DC.

David C. Weiss, Esq. and Jennifer L. Hall, Esq. of U.S. Attorney's Office, Wilmington, DE. Counsel for Defendant U.S. Dept. of Treasury. Of Counsel: Chad A. Readler, Esq., Diane Kelleher, Esq., Thomas D.

Zimpleman, Esq., Deepthy Kishore, Esq., and Robert C. Merritt, Esq. of U.S. Dept. of Justice Civil Division, Washington DC.

**MEMORANDUM OPINION**

SLEET, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

**I. INTRODUCTION**

\*1 This action is one of several lawsuits filed by the stockholders of the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Association (“Freddie Mac”) challenging what the parties call a “Net Worth Sweep,” which is a provision in the Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated Senior Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements (the “Third Amendment”) governing the payment of dividends. The Third Amendment was entered into by the United States Department of the Treasury (“Treasury”) and the Federal Housing Finance Agency (the “Agency,” and collectively with Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and Treasury, the “Defendants”). At the time, the Agency was acting in its capacity as conservator of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac (each a “Company,” and collectively, the “Companies”). Plaintiffs David Jacobs and Gary Hines (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) seek equitable relief based on their assertion that the Net Worth Sweep violates state statutory schemes governing corporations and unjustly enriches Defendants. (D.I. 62 ¶¶ 79-108).

The court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332, and 1367. Currently pending before the court are Defendants' motions to dismiss the complaint. (D.I. 65, D.I. 67). Defendants have raised a multitude of arguments as to why the complaint should be dismissed, including the anti-injunction clause in the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (“HERA”), 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f), the succession clause in HERA, 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(A)(i), the requirement to state a claim under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), issue preclusion and, with respect to Treasury alone, sovereign immunity. (D.I. 66, D.I. 68). For the reasons discussed below, the court finds that the anti-injunction clause in Section § 4617(f) deprives it of subject matter jurisdiction. Because Plaintiffs do not clear this threshold hurdle, the court is dismissing the complaint without reaching Defendants' other arguments.



## II. BACKGROUND

### A. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are government-sponsored enterprises (a “GSE”) created to increase liquidity in the mortgage market. (D.I. 68 at 5; D.I. 62 ¶¶ 30-31). A GSE is a corporation established by congressional charter but privately owned, meaning its stock is owned by private entities and individuals. 2 U.S.C. 622(8). For purposes of corporate governance, the Companies had to designate the law of the state in which its principal office is located or Delaware General Corporation Law. (D.I. 62 at ¶ 32 (citing 12 C.F.R. § 1710.10)). Fannie Mae selected Delaware law, and Freddie Mac selected Virginia law. (*Id.* at ¶ 32).

In 2008, a global financial crisis and nationwide decline in the housing market caused the Companies to suffer losses. (*Id.* at ¶ 33). To address the crisis, Congress passed HERA, which authorized the Agency to place the Companies into conservatorship or receivership. (*Id.* ¶ 34; *see also* 12 U.S.C. § 4617(2)). On September 6, 2008, the Agency exercised its power under HERA and placed the Companies into conservatorship. (D.I. 62 ¶ 35). Shortly thereafter, each Company, acting through the Agency as a conservator, entered into a Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement (a “Stock Purchase Agreement”) with Treasury. (*Id.* at ¶ 36). Under the Stock Purchase Agreements, Treasury committed to advance funds to the Companies for each quarter in which the Companies' liabilities exceeded its assets, so as to maintain the Companies' positive net worth. (D.I. 68 at 7). The funding commitment was capped at \$100 billion for each Company. (D.I. 62 ¶¶ 8, 36). In return, Treasury received from each Company shares of a newly created class of senior preferred stock worth \$1 billion and warrants to purchase 79.9% of the common stock. (*Id.* ¶ 8). The Stock Purchase Agreements gave Treasury the right to: (1) an aggregate liquidation preference equal to \$1 billion plus the sum of all additional amounts drawn on Treasury's funding commitment; and (2) a quarterly dividend equal to a percentage of the outstanding liquidation preference: 10%, if paid in cash, or 12%, if paid “in-kind.” (*Id.* at ¶¶ 8-9). If the quarterly dividend was in-kind, the amount would be added to the liquidation preference. (*Id.* at ¶ 8).

\*2 The Stock Purchase Agreements were amended twice in 2009—first, on May 6, 2009, to raise the funding commitment for each Company from \$100 billion to

\$200 billion and, again, on December 24, 2009, to raise the funding commitment according to a formula that would be capped at the end of 2012. (D.I. 68 at 8). On August 17, 2012, Treasury and the Agency, acting as conservator for the Companies, entered into the Third Amendment. (D.I. 62 ¶ 1). Among other things, the Third Amendment changed the formula for calculating the quarterly dividend. (D.I. 68 at 9). Now, the Companies would owe a quarterly dividend in the amount (if any) of the Company's positive net worth, minus a capital reserve. (D.I. 66 at 9). Plaintiffs refer to this dividend formula as a “Net Worth Sweep,” and allege that Defendants agreed to the Net Worth Sweep as way to improperly expropriate for the federal government the value the Companies were generating after they returned to profitability in 2012. (D.I. 62 ¶¶ 39, 42, 46).

### B. Plaintiffs

Plaintiff Jacobs has continuously held stock in Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac since November 2009. (D.I. 62 ¶ 24). According to the complaint, Plaintiff Hinds “has been an investor in Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac since 2011.” (*Id.* at ¶ 25). The complaint does not allege, however, that Hinds currently holds any Fannie Mae stock. In addition, Hinds currently holds Freddie Mac stock purchased in February 2015, i.e., purchased *after* Defendants executed the Third Amendment that serves as the basis for his claims.<sup>1</sup> (*Id.*).

<sup>1</sup> The timing of Hinds' investments in the Companies raises questions regarding his standing and adequacy as a representative plaintiff. *See, e.g., Quadrant Structured Prod. Co., Ltd. v. Vertin*, 102 A.3d 155, 178 (Del. Ch. 2014) (describing Delaware's contemporaneous and continuous ownership requirements for derivative plaintiffs); *In re Heckmann Corp. Sec. Litig.*, 2013 WL 2456104, at \*11 (D. Del. June 6, 2013) (stating that the interests of the putative class representative is usually similar to and sufficiently aligned with the potential class members, because all class members suffered the same harm).

## III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), a complaint may be dismissed for “lack of subject-matter jurisdiction.” Challenges to subject matter jurisdiction may be facial or factual. *Lincoln Ben. Life Co. v. AEI Life, LLC*, 800 F.3d 99, 105 (3d Cir. 2015). A facial attack contests

the sufficiency of the pleadings, whereas a factual attack contests the sufficiency of jurisdictional facts. *Id.* According to Defendants, Section 4617(f) is a facial attack to subject matter jurisdiction.<sup>2</sup> (D.I. 66 at 9; D.I. 68 at 9). In reviewing a facial attack, “the court must only consider the allegations of the complaint and documents referenced therein and attached thereto, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff.” *Gould Elec. Inc. v. United States*, 220 F.3d 169, 176 (3d Cir. 2000).

<sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs have not challenged this assertion.

#### IV. DISCUSSION

Section 4617(f) of HERA states, in relevant part, that “no court may take any action to restrain or affect the exercise of powers or functions of the Agency as a conservator or a receiver.” 12 U.S.C. § 4617(f). Courts construing the scope of Section 4617(f) have relied on decisions addressing Section 1821 (j), a nearly identical jurisdictional bar applicable to conservatorships with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) and its predecessor, the Resolution Trust Corporation (“RTC”).<sup>3</sup> *Natural Res. Def Council, Inc. v. Fed. Housing Fin. Agency*, 815 F. Supp. 2d 630, 641 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), *aff’d sub nom. Town of Babylon v. Fed. Housing Fin. Agency*, 699 F.3d 221 (2d Cir. 2012); *Saxton v. Fed. Housing Fin. Agency*, 245 F. Supp. 3d 1063, 1075 (N.D. Iowa 2017) (stating that Section 4617(f) has the same scope as the substantially similar anti-injunction provision in Section 1821(j)).

<sup>3</sup> Section 1821(j) is codified in the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 (“FIRREA”), and states in relevant part: “no court may take any action ... to restrain or affect the exercise of powers or functions of the [FDIC or RTC] as a conservator or a receiver.” 12 U.S.C. § 1821(j).

\*<sup>3</sup> As construed, Section 4617(f) deprives the court of subject matter jurisdiction over claims seeking equitable and injunctive relief, unless the challenged actions are outside the Agency's statutory powers. See *Perry Capital LLC v. Mnuchin*, 864 F.3d 591, 612 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (Plaintiffs burden is to show that the Agency's actions were “frolicking outside of statutory limits as a matter of law”); see also *Gross v. Bell Sav. Bank PA SA*, 974 F.2d 403, 407 (3d Cir. 1992) (stating that Section 1821(j) permits review only “where the [FDIC] is acting clearly outside its statutory powers”). As a threshold matter, Plaintiffs seek “equitable and injunctive relief” against both the

Agency and Treasury. (D.I. 62 ¶ C). Specifically, Plaintiffs seek: (i) a declaratory judgment that the Net Worth Sweep is void and unenforceable under Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) and Section 13.1-638 of the Virginia Stock Corporation Act (“VSCA”); (ii) a declaratory judgment that Treasury was unjustly enriched, (ii) rescission of the Net Worth Sweep; and (iv) restitution. (*Id.* at ¶ 84, 92, 99, 106, and Prayer for Relief). There is no dispute that this relief, if granted against the Agency when the Agency was acting within its power, would restrain or affect the Agency's use of its power.<sup>4</sup> (D.I. 69 at 33-35, 39). This leaves two questions for the court. Was the Third Amendment outside the Agency's statutory powers? Would the same equitable relief, if granted against Treasury, restrain or affect the Agency's use of its powers? Each of these questions will be addressed in turn.

<sup>4</sup> Courts have consistently held that rescission, restitution, and declaratory judgments restrain or affect the conservator's powers. See, e.g., *BKWSpokane, LLC v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 663 Fed. App'x 524, 527 (9th Cir. 2016) (stating that Section 1821 (j) bars a claim for unjust enrichment); *Hindes v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 137 F.3d 148, 159 (3d Cir. 1998) (agreeing that Section 1821(j) precluded claims for declaratory judgment and rescission); *Freeman v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 56 F.3d 1394, 1399 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (stating that Section 1821(j) bars declaratory relief and rescission); *Centennial Assocs. Ltd. P'ship v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 927 F. Supp. 806, 812 (D.N.J. 1996) (stating that Section 1821(j) deprives courts of the power to grant rescission).

#### A. Claims Against The Agency

The powers of the Agency, as conservator, are “defined by” its governing statute, HERA, without any exception or limitation for compliance with other laws. See *Rosa v. Resolution Trust Corp.*, 938 F.2d 383, 398 (3d Cir. 1991) (stating that the powers of the RTC as conservator or receiver “are defined by FIRREA”). Where the Agency performs functions assigned to it under HERA, equitable and injunctive relief will be denied “even where [it] acts in violation of other statutory schemes.” *Gross*, 974 F.2d at 407; see also *Rosa*, 938 F.2d at 398 (“[T]o the extent of a conflict between [Section 1821(j)] and provisions of ERISA authorizing relief, § 1821(j) controls”). Plaintiffs try to avoid this adverse precedent by arguing that the purported violations of the DGCL and VSCA (i.e., state corporate law) are not claims based

on “other statutory schemes.” (D.I. 69 at 39). Instead, these violations “contravened and exceeded [the Agency’s] statutory authority under HERA itself.” (*Id.*). For the reasons explained below, the court disagrees.

The court will first explain why the Agency was acting within its statutory powers when it executed the Third Amendment and then explain why it rejects Plaintiffs’ arguments to the contrary. Only two of Plaintiffs’ arguments require extended discussion: (1) that HERA’s succession clause incorporates into the Agency’s powers any limitations the DGCL and VSCA placed on the Companies’ powers, and (2) that the Agency exceeded its powers by failing to follow HERA’s procedures for repudiating private contracts. Plaintiffs’ remaining arguments are a hodgepodge that can be summarily rejected.

### 1. The Agency’s Statutory Powers

This court concludes, like several other courts, that the Agency acted within its powers under HERA when it entered into the Third Amendment. Under [Section 4617\(b\)](#), the Agency may be appointed conservator “for the purpose of reorganizing, rehabilitating, or winding up the affairs of a regulated entity.” [12 U.S.C. § 4617\(a\)\(2\)](#). The Agency has the power to: (i) “take over the assets of and operate” the Companies, (ii) “conduct all business” of the Companies, and (iii) “transfer or sell any asset” of the Companies “without any approval, assignment, or consent.” [12 U.S.C. § 4617\(b\)\(2\)\(B\)&\(G\)](#). In addition, the Agency has the power to take any actions: (i) “necessary to put [the Companies] in a sound and solvent condition;” and (ii) “appropriate to ... preserve and conserve the assets of the regulated entity.” [12 U.S.C. § 4617\(b\)\(2\)\(D\)](#).

\*4 The Stock Purchase Agreement and the Third Amendment thereto provided a funding commitment intended to ensure that the Companies remained in a sound and solvent condition. (*See* D.I. 66-1 at ¶ A). In exchange for the funding commitment, the Agency transferred or sold (or committed to transfer or sell) assets of the Companies to the U.S. Treasury, in the form of quarterly dividends and a liquidation preference. (*Id.* at § 3). The Third Amendment changed the terms by which those assets would be transferred or sold. (D.I. 66-3). Accordingly, as several other courts have found, the Third Amendment falls squarely within the powers granted to

the Agency under HERA, because renegotiating dividend agreements, managing debt obligations, and ensuring ongoing access to capital are some of the quintessential tasks of reorganizing, operating, and preserving a business. *See Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 607 (finding that the Agency’s execution of the Third Amendment fell squarely within its statutory authority to operate the Companies, reorganize their affairs, and take such action as may be appropriate to carry on their business); *Collins v. Fed. Housing Fin. Agency*, 254 F. Supp. 3d 841, 846 (S.D. Tex. 2017) (stating that plaintiffs failed to demonstrate that the Third Amendment was “outside the scope of [the Agency’s] broad authority as conservator”); *Saxton*, 245 F. Supp. 3d at 1076 (finding that the Agency’s powers as conservator “plainly allow for the actions contemplated by the Third Amendment”); *Roberts*, 243 F. Supp. 3d at 963 (“All told, the Plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged that [the Agency] acted outside the bounds of its statutory authority” when executing the Third Amendment); *Robinson v. Fed. Housing Fin. Agency*, 223 F. Supp. 3d 659, 667-71 (E.D. Ky. 2016) (holding that the Third Amendment was within the Agency’s powers and functions).

### 2. HERA’s Succession Clause

Plaintiffs argue that the Third Amendment exceeded the Agency’s statutory powers under HERA, because it contravened the DGCL and VSCA, i.e., the state corporate law of Delaware and Virginia respectively. (D.I. 69 at 36-38). According to Plaintiffs, HERA incorporated all of the restrictions state corporate law imposes on the Companies and, as a result, the Agency “may not take actions as conservator that Fannie [Mae] and Freddie [Mac] could not themselves have taken.” (*Id.* at 36-37). Plaintiffs base this argument on the succession clause in HERA, which states that the Agency, as conservator, “immediately succeed[s] to ... all rights, titles, powers, and privileges of the regulated entity, and of any stockholder, officer, or director of [the Companies] with respect to the [Companies].”<sup>5</sup> (*Id.* at 36 (citing [12 U.S.C. § 4617\(b\)\(2\)\(A\)](#))).

<sup>5</sup> Plaintiffs also base their argument on two other HERA provisions: the Agency’s discretionary authority to perform all functions of the Companies “in the name of” the Companies,” and to operate the Companies “with all the powers of the shareholders,

the directors, and the officers.” (D.I. 69 at 36 (citing 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(2)(B))). Because these grants of authority “are permissive powers of [the Agency] and not duties with which they are required to comply,” see *Robinson*, 223 F. Supp. 3d at 669 (emphasis in original omitted), they are far weaker statutory grounds for Plaintiffs’ argument than the succession clause. So the court will not address them.

The court finds this argument unpersuasive for many reasons. First, Plaintiffs’ reading of Section 4617(f)—which would make equitable relief against the Agency available in every situation where it would be available against the Companies—renders Section 4617(f) superfluous. As a general rule of statutory construction, courts “strive to avoid a result that would render statutory language superfluous, meaningless, or irrelevant.” *Cushman v. Trans Union Corp.*, 115 F.3d 220, 225 (3d Cir. 1997). Second, Plaintiffs’ reading is contrary to well-established case law that equitable relief will be denied, “even where the [conservator] acts in violation of other statutory schemes.” *Gross*, 974 F.2d at 407; *Rosa*, 938 F.2d at 397 (rejecting argument that the FDIC exceeds its statutory authority for purposes of Section 1821(j) when the challenged acts are illegal under ERISA). If a conservator exceeded its statutory powers when it violated state law, then claims based on violations of other statutory schemes would not have been barred by Section 1821(j) or Section 4617(f). Third, Plaintiffs’ interpretation is inconsistent with the purpose of HERA itself. The sweeping limitations Section 4617(f) places on judicial review “may appear drastic,” but that fully accords with Congress’ intent to broadly empower the Agency to act in times of extraordinary financial crisis. *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 605.

\*5 Finally, the cases Plaintiffs cite in support of their argument are easily distinguishable. (See, D.I. 69 at 36-37). *O’Melveny & Myers* addressed whether “federal common law” preempted state common law when the FDIC asserted state tort claims, in its capacity as a receiver. *O’Melveny & Myers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 512 U.S. 79, 86 (1994). *O’Melveny & Myers* did not address, in any manner whatsoever, whether the FDIC’s statutory powers were curtailed by state law when it stepped into the shoes of a failed bank. In *Bank of Manhattan* and *Sharpe*, the courts found that Section 1821(j) did not bar plaintiffs from asserting a breach of contract claim against the FDIC, in its capacity as receiver for a bank, because the FDIC was bound by the terms of a private commercial contract executed by plaintiffs and

the bank before the receivership. See *Bank of Manhattan, N.A. v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 778 F.3d 1133, 1135-36 (9th Cir. 2015); *Sharpe v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 126 F.3d 1147, 1154-55 (9th Cir. 1997). Here, Plaintiffs are not asserting a breach of contract claim. Indeed, Plaintiffs do not have a private commercial contract with either Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. Finally, neither *Fleischer* nor *Ridder* mention FIRREA (the act containing Section 1821(j)), let alone address whether FIRREA’s grant of authority to the FDIC incorporated state law restrictions on the bank’s powers. See *Ridder v. CityFed Fin. Corp.*, 47 F.3d 85, 87 (3d Cir. 1995); *Fleischer v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 70 F. Supp. 2d 1238 (D. Kan. 1999). For all of these reasons, the court is not persuaded that HERA incorporated state law limitations on the Companies’ authority in such a manner that the Agency exceeds its statutory authority under HERA when it violates state law.

### 3. HERA’s Repudiation of Contracts Clause

Plaintiffs argue that the Agency exceeded its statutory authority under HERA by not complying with the requirements of Section 4617(d), which governs the Agency’s repudiation of contracts between the Companies and third-parties. (D.I. 69 at 38-39). Plaintiffs’ argument on this point is cryptic, but it appears to string together the following assertions. The bylaws of a corporation are treated by the courts like contracts. (*Id.*). Thus, Plaintiffs had a contract with the Companies. The bylaws of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac specified that they would be governed by the state law of Delaware and Virginia, respectively. (D.I. 62 ¶ 32). Thus, the terms of Plaintiffs’ contract with the Companies incorporated the DGCL and the VSCA. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 52, 55). The Third Amendment purportedly violated Section 151 of the DGCL and Section 13.1-638 of the VSCA. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 55, 83). Thus, the Third Amendment “repudiated” the Companies’ contract with Plaintiffs. (D.I. 69 at 38-39). HERA requires that any contracts repudiated by the Agency must be repudiated within the 18 months following the Agency’s appointment as a conservator. (*Id.*). The Agency became conservator of the Companies in 2008 and the Third Amendment was executed in 2012. (D.I. 62 ¶ 1, 35). Thus, the Agency did not repudiate Plaintiffs’ contract with the Companies within 18 months of its appointment. (D.I. 69 at 38-39). The failure to repudiate a contract within the time allowed under Section 4617(d) means the Agency exceeded its

statutory powers granted in [Section 4617\(b\)](#) to operate the business and sell or transfer its assets. (*Id.*).

Laid out in this way, the flaws in Plaintiffs' argument become clear. Plaintiffs ask the court to equate a violation of a state statute with the act of repudiating a contract, but cite no authority to support their assertion.<sup>6</sup> Plaintiffs also cite no authority for the proposition that the Agency's failure to comply with the 18 month requirement for repudiating contracts means the Agency exceeded its powers to operate the business. Indeed, cases dismissing equitable claims under [Section 1821\(j\)](#), notwithstanding allegations that the conservator failed to timely repudiate a contract, indicate that the conservator does not exceed its statutory authority by failing to comply with the 18 month timing requirement. *See MBIA Ins. Corp. v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 708 F.3d 234, 247 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (dismissing claims seeking a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief under [Section 1821\(j\)](#) notwithstanding fact that claims were based on receiver's failure to repudiate a contract in a timely manner); *Bender v. CenTrust Mortg. Corp.*, 833 F. Supp. 1540, 1542-43 (S.D. Fla. 1992) *aff'd*, 51 F.3d 1027 (11th Cir. 1995) (same). Accordingly, the court finds that, even if the Third Amendment violated state law and that violation should be treated like a repudiation of a contract, the Agency did not exceed its statutory powers in failing to repudiate the contract in a timely manner.

<sup>6</sup> Plaintiffs cite to cases stating that bylaws “have all the force of contracts.” (D.I. 69 at 38 (citing *Lee v. Va. Educ. Ass'n, Inc.*, 1969 WL 101681, at \*1 (1969); *Allen v. El Paso Pipeline GP Co., LLC*, 90 A.3d 1097, 1107 (Del. Ch. 2014)). But this only shows that courts will rely on contract principles in deciding how to construe and enforce bylaws.

#### 4. Plaintiffs' Hodgepodge of Other Arguments

\*6 Plaintiffs raise a hodgepodge of weaker arguments as to how the Agency exceeded its statutory powers under HERA. Each of these arguments are rejected for the reasons explained below. First, Plaintiffs argue that the transfer of the Companies assets “ignore HERA's detailed procedures and order of priorities for the distribution of assets during liquidation,” codified at [12 U.S.C. § 4617\(b\) \(3\)-\(9\), \(c\)](#). (D.I. 69 at 42). The Companies, however, are not in liquidation, so those provisions do not apply to the Net Worth Sweep.

Second, Plaintiffs make the cursory assertion that, under [Section 4617\(b\)\(2\)\(G\)](#), the Agency may only transfer assets “as conservator or receiver,” but the Agency “was not acting in either capacity” when it paid the Net Worth Sweep in accordance with the terms of the Third Amendment. (*Id.*). The Agency has only three capacities: conservator, receiver, or regulator. Plaintiffs have made no argument and cited no authority to show that the Agency was acting as a regulator when it executed the Third Amendment. In addition, the Complaint alleges that the Third Amendment was executed by the Agency “in its capacity as conservator of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.” (D.I. 62 ¶ 1). Accordingly, this argument fails.

Third, Plaintiffs assert that the Net Worth Sweep exceeded the Agency's powers, because it did not put the Companies in a “sound and solvent condition,” and/or “preserve and conserve their assets and property,” as HERA purportedly requires. (*Id.* at 43 (internal brackets omitted)). As several other courts have explained in rejecting similar arguments, these are permissive powers under HERA, not obligatory. *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 606-07. The Agency's “alleged failure to exercise its permissive power ... does not remove Plaintiff's claims from the ambit of [Section 4617\(f\)](#)'s bar on equitable relief.” *Robinson*, 223 F. Supp. 3d at 670; *Roberts*, 243 F. Supp. 3d at 962-63; *Saxton*, 245 F. Supp. 3d at 1076.

Similarly, Plaintiffs argue that the Net Worth Sweep exceeded the Agency's powers, because it did not “maximize the net present value return.” (D.I. 69 at 43). As the Fifth Circuit explained in rejecting this same argument: “[Plaintiffs] fail[ ] (or refuse[ ] ) to recognize the difference between the exercise of a function or power that is clearly outside the statutory authority of the [Agency] on the one hand, and improperly or even unlawfully exercising a function or power that is clearly authorized by statute on the other.” *Ward v. Resolution Trust Corp.*, 996 F.2d 99, 103 (5th Cir. 1993). None can question that the Agency, as conservator, is statutorily authorized to transfer or sell the assets of the Companies. *Id.* So, “even assuming arguendo, that (as alleged by [Plaintiffs] ) the [Agency] exercised the power or function of [transferring or selling assets] in a way that failed to maximize the net present value return or to afford fair and consistent treatment to all [stockholders], [Plaintiffs] could not prevail.” *Id.* “For, even if the [Agency] improperly or unlawfully exercised an authorized power or function, it

clearly did not engage in an activity outside its statutory powers.” *Id.*

Finally, Plaintiffs suggest that the powers granted to the Agency under [Section 4617](#) are limited to “routine transfers of discrete assets,” which the Net Worth Sweep purportedly was not. (D.I. 69 at 44). Plaintiffs, again, cite no authority supporting this suggestion. The plain text of [Section 4617](#) includes no such limitation. And, reading such a limitation into [Section 4617](#) would be contrary to the very purpose for which HERA was enacted—to mitigate the effects of a global financial crisis that was far from routine.

### B. Claims Against Treasury

\*7 It is well established that Plaintiffs cannot make an end-run around [Section 4617\(f\)](#) by asserting claims for equitable and injunctive relief against the Agency's contractual counterparty, when the contract in question was within the scope of the Agency's powers. *Perry Capital LLC v. Lew*, 70 F. Supp. 3d 208, 222 (D.D.C. 2014). [Section 4617\(f\)](#) bars claims that “restrain or affect” the Agency's exercise of its powers, and a claim against the Agency's counterparty “affect[s]” the Agency's exercise of its powers. See *Perry Capital*, 864 F.3d at 615 (“[T]he effect of any injunction or declaratory judgment aimed at Treasury's adoption of the Third Amendment would have just as direct and immediate an effect as if the injunction operated directly on [the Agency].”); *Dittmer Prop., L.P. v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 708 F.3d 1011, 1017 (8th Cir. 2013) (finding that a claim against the FDIC's counterparty “would certainly restrain or affect FDIC's powers”); *Hindes v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 137 F.3d 148, 160 (3d Cir. 1998) (barring a claim against a third party which would “have the same practical result as an order directed against the FDIC”); *Roberts*, 243 F. Supp. 3d at 960 (“It takes two to tango, and undoing one side of the Third Amendment against Treasury necessarily affects [the Agency], which is, after all, the other party to the Third Amendment.”). Accordingly, [Section 4617\(f\)](#) bars Plaintiffs' claims against Treasury. See *Saxton*, 245 F. Supp. 3d at 1078 (holding that plaintiffs' claims against Treasury are barred by [Section 4617\(f\)](#) because such relief would undoubtedly restrain or affect the Agency's functions as a conservator); *Robinson*, 223 F. Supp. 3d at 666 (same).

### C. Motion to Strike

Plaintiffs have asked the court to take judicial notice of documents purportedly undermining any assertion by Defendants that: (1) the Net Worth Sweep was necessary to stop the Companies' circular practice of borrowing funds from Treasury in order to pay Treasury the quarterly dividend; and (2) the Agency entered into the Third Amendment in order to preserve and conserve the assets of the Companies. (D.I. 75 at 3). In the alternative, Plaintiffs ask the court strike any arguments that rely on these assertions. The court denies the motion as moot. The court did not rely on these assertions or any facts related to these assertions in deciding the motion to dismiss, as that would have been improper under the standard of review for a facial attack on subject matter jurisdiction.

### V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants' motions to dismiss (D.I. 65, D.I. 67) are granted. The complaint (D.I. 62) is dismissed with prejudice, because lack of subject matter jurisdiction cannot be cured by amendment. See *U.S. ex rel. Schumann v. Astrazeneca Pharm. L.P.*, 769 F.3d 837, 849 (3d Cir. 2014). Plaintiffs' motion for judicial notice of documents or, in the alternative, to strike certain arguments in Defendants' briefs (D.I. 75) is denied as moot. An appropriate order will be entered.

### ORDER

Consistent with the memorandum opinion issued this same date, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that:

1. Defendants' motions to dismiss (D.I. 65, D.I. 67) are GRANTED;
2. Plaintiffs' first amended class action and derivative complaint (D.I. 62) is DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE; and
3. The Clerk of the Court is directed to close the case.

Wilmington, Delaware

### All Citations

Slip Copy, 2017 WL 5664769

End of Document

© 2017 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.